### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

Supreme Court Case No.SC04-570

The Florida Bar Case No. 2004-71,078(11M-MES)

LEONARDO JORGE GUERRA,

Respondent.

**RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF** 

/

RICHARD B. MARX RICHARD B. MARX & ASSOCIATES Attorney for Respondent 66 West Flagler Street Second Floor Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 579-9060 Fax (305) 377-0503 Florida Bar No.: 051075

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 30, 2004 the Bar filed a petition for emergency suspension pursuant to Rule 3-5.2 based upon allegations of trust account shortages and misappropriation of client funds. The petition alleged that the allegations established, "clearly and convincingly that Respondent appears to be causing great public harm". App 01-10. On April 2, 2004 Respondent's counsel filed a pleading entitled "notice to the court of Respondent's intent to file verified response in opposition to The Florida Bar's petition for emergency suspension, on or before April 7, 2004." App 33-34. On April 6, 2004 Respondent filed the verified response in opposition to The Florida Bar's petition for emergency suspension. App 35-46. The verified response in opposition acknowledged that although there had been irregularities in Respondent's trust accounts during 2003, as of 2004 there was no money owed to clients and the account was in compliance with trust account requirements. App 38-39.

The verified response stated that in September of 2003 Respondent hired an accountant to correct the trust account records and comply with all trust account reporting requirements. The verified response suggested less restrictive alternatives short of suspension contained in Rule 3-5.2 such as probation with special condition that Respondent be ordered to deposit all

trust funds into a special trust account which could be monitored by the Bar or a monitor which requires the approval of the Supreme Court or a referee appointed by the Supreme court before any disbursements can be made.

On April 8, 2004 this Court issued an order granting the Bar's petition for emergency suspension effective 30 days from the date of the order. App 47. On April 19, 2004 Respondent filed a motion to dissolve emergency suspension App 48 and Respondent filed an amendment to said motion April 30, 2004 App 55-56. On April 22, 2004 this Court issued an order designating Joseph P. Farina, Chief Judge for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit to immediately appoint a referee to, "hear, conduct, try, and determine the matters presented" and to "submit a report and recommendation to the Supreme Court of Florida within seven days of the date of the hearing as provided in rule 3-5.2(e)(2). App 58. On April 26, 2004 the Honorable Andrew Hague was appointed to serve as Referee in this cause and a hearing on Respondents motion to dissolve emergency suspension took place April 30, 2004. On May 7, 2004 the Referee submitted the Report of Referee recommending that Respondent's Motion to Dissolve Emergency Suspension be denied and that Respondent's suspension remain in force without amendment. App 59. On May 14, 2004 Respondent filed a Petition for Review with this court.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Referee limited the scope of Respondent's motion to dissolve emergency suspension to the exact language contained in Rule 3-5.2(e)(2), and by so doing interpreted his role as restricted to determining whether Bar Counsel demonstrated a likelihood of prevailing on the merits on any element of the underlying complaint and analogized the hearing as a "probable cause hearing" to determine whether there is probable cause that Respondent has violated any rules and if there is a finding of probable cause then the emergency suspension stays in place. The Referee refused to consider any arguments that Respondent no longer "appears to be causing great public harm". This rule should not be interpreted so restrictively. The court can and should interpret this provision of the rule to be read in conjunction with Rule 3-5.2(a). Respondent should have been given the opportunity to present evidence that proves that the facts set forth in the Bar's petition for emergency suspension do not establish clearly and convincingly that Respondent is currently causing great public harm.

# THE REFEREE'S LIMITATION OF THE HEARING ON RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISSOLVE EMERGENCY SUSPENSION TO RULE 3-5.2(e)(2) WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

The Referee interpreted the April 22, 2004 App 58 order of

appointment as limiting the scope of the hearing to the exact language of Rule 3-5.2(e)(2) and no further. TR 14. The order of appointment provides in part that, "The referee shall hear, conduct, try, and determine the matters presented within seven days from the date of the assignment and thereafter shall submit a report and recommendation to the Supreme Court of Florida within seven days of the date of the hearing as provided in rule 3-5.2(e)(2)."

App 58. Rule 3-5.2(e)(2) states,

The referee shall hear such motion within 7 days of assignment, or a shorter time if practicable, and submit a report and recommendation to the Supreme Court of Florida within 7 days of the date of the hearing, or a shorter time if practicable. The referee shall recommend dissolution or amendment, whichever is appropriate, to the extent that bar counsel cannot demonstrate a likelihood of prevailing on the merits on any element of the underlying complaint.

The Referee interpreted his role at the hearing on the motion to dissolve emergency suspension as being limited to determining whether Bar Counsel demonstrated "a likelihood of prevailing on the merits on any element of the underlying complaint." In reaching this determination the Referee analogized this hearing as a "probable cause hearing" to determine whether there is probable cause that Respondent has violated any rules and if there is a finding of probable cause then the emergency suspension stays in place. TR 15, 20. The referee refused to consider any arguments that Respondent no longer "appears to be causing great public harm".

The problem with the facts of this case is that Rule 3-5.2(e)(2) states in part that, "The referee shall recommend dissolution or amendment, whichever is appropriate, to the extent that bar counsel cannot demonstrate a likelihood of prevailing on the merits on any element of the underlying complaint". The Referee took that language from the rule and interpreted it to mean the underlying petition for emergency suspension. TR 28. This is problematic because if we look exclusively at the likelihood of the Bar prevailing on any of the elements of the underlying petition for emergency suspension or complaint it sets up a threshold that no respondent is likely to meet. The Referee looked at Rule 3-5.2(e)(2) to the exclusion of any other components of the Rule, and in so doing refused to consider the issue of whether Respondent still "appears to be causing great public harm". If the Bar's and the Referee's position is correct then no Respondent would be able to meet this standard. The rule should not be read in such a restrictive

way that the very procedure it provides to challenge an emergency order is rendered meaningless because of an impossible standard. That cannot be the purpose of the rule. When the rule was amended this Court showed great concern to make sure that the rule met the requirement of due process and stated,

...we agree with Mr. Trawick that affidavits should not become the basis for depriving attorneys of their livelihoods if in fact these affidavits are meritless. Thus, we have heightened the standard by which such affidavits will be reviewed in this Court *upon motion to dissolve an emergency order*. Under this new standard, the affidavit or affidavits must allege facts that, if true, would demonstrate clearly and convincingly that an attorney *appears to be causing great public harm*. The Florida Bar re Amendment to the Rules regulating The Florida Bar 1-3.7; 3-5.1(g); 3-5.2; 13-1.1 and Chapter 15, 593 So.2d 1035, 1036-37 (Fla. 1991). (Emphasis added).

In its efforts to insure due process of law it is clear this court was attempting to protect attorneys who were the subject of emergency suspension proceedings, however the language "likelihood of prevailing on the merits on any element of the underlying complaint" contained in Rule 3-5.2(e)(2) has crippled this effort. When the rule was amended this flaw was not detected. The court however can and should interpret this provision of the rule to be read in conjunction with Rule 3-5.2(a).

The standard that the Bar needs to demonstrate to the Court in order to have an attorney emergency suspended is to "establish clearly and convincingly that an attorney appears to be causing great public harm." *See* 

Rule 3-5.2(a). The Referee in the instant case refused to consider Rule 3-5.2(a). Whether an attorney appears to be causing great public harm is therefore the "elements of the underlying petition" pursuant to Rule 3-5.2(e)(2). It is clear that this was the standard intended to be challenged on a motion for dissolution of emergency suspension and not "probable cause as to whether there is a rule violation". Respondent acknowledged that there were trust account irregularities in 2003, but was not permitted to demonstrate that these irregularities had been corrected and that now he is not "causing great public harm".

The Referee's interpretation of his role in this proceeding as that of making a determination of probable cause makes little sense in light of the fact that the issuance of an emergency suspension by the Court is in essence a substitute for probable cause. Rule 3-5.2(d) provides that the Bar must file a formal complaint within 60 days of the emergency order and proceed to trial of the underlying issues, without the necessity of a finding of probable cause by either a grievance committee or the Board of Governors.

Respondent should have been given the opportunity to present evidence that proves that the facts set forth in the Bar's petition for emergency suspension do not establish clearly and convincingly that Respondent is currently causing great public harm. Respondent should have

been allowed to present evidence that his trust accounts are currently in compliance with Rule 5-1.1 and that there is currently no emergency and that Respondent does not meet the threshold requirement for emergency suspension. Additionally, any allegations of misconduct should be addressed through the normal attorney disciplinary proceedings set forth in Rule 3-7.6. The referee expressed surprise at the restrictions of 3-5.2(e)(2) and stated,

THE REFEREE: I mean, I'm surprised at the limitation of 3-5.2(e)(2) because in reading what I had read before in reviewing the materials, I was of the belief since the monies had been repaid and that the present dangerness issue had been resolved, it seemed to me that there was an argument to be made for a --I was looking forward to arguments that – there could be a strong argument made for supervision -- . . .

MR. MULLIGAN: Your Honor, the only position -

THE REFEREE: -- but I guess that's not what we're here for today. TR 16-17.

The Referee should have entertained less restrictive alternatives short of suspension that would be in keeping with the stated purpose of lawyer discipline, such as depositing trust funds into a special trust account which can be monitored by the Bar or a monitor which requires approval from the Supreme Court or a referee appointed by the Supreme court before any disbursements are made.

# CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments and authority, this Court should reject the Referee's Report and Recommendation and dissolve the emergency suspension. Respectfully submitted,

RICHARD B. MARX Attorney for Respondent