IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court Case No. SC04-570

v.

LEONARDO JORGE GUERRA,

Respondent.

The Florida Bar File No. 2004-71,078(11M-MES)

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

WILLIAM MULLIGAN

Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 0956880 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel Florida Bar No. 0253847 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director Florida Bar No. 0123390 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Florida Bar adopts the Statement of the Case and of the Facts included in Respondent's Initial Brief and would supplement it with the following:

The Florida Bar attached the affidavit of Carlos J. Ruga, Branch Auditor for the Miami Office of The Florida Bar, with exhibits to the Bar's Petition for Emergency Suspension. The affidavit and exhibits evidenced Respondent's numerous misappropriations of client funds wherein he used client funds to pay personal and business obligations throughout 2003. (App 13-32).

At the hearing on Respondent's Motion to Dissolve Emergency Suspension, Mr. Ruga testified that Respondent had been engaged in a "ponzi scheme" and that he misappropriated funds from numerous clients throughout 2003. Mr. Ruga further testified that Respondent had to borrow in excess of \$75,000 of family funds to cover shortages in his trust account. (TR at 30-51).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent has not established that the Referee erred by denying his motion to dissolve his emergency suspension. The Referee's ruling that the Bar demonstrated a likelihood of prevailing on the merits of each element of it's underlying petition and that Respondent's suspension should remain in force without amendment is consistent with this Court's directive issued in the order of appointment of referee and rule 3-5.2(e)(2) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Respondent argues that the Referee should not have been confined to this Court's directive contained within the order of appointment of referee and rule 3-5.2(e)(2), and that the Bar should have been required to make a showing that Respondent was causing great public harm. The Bar clearly established that Respondent was causing great public harm. Respondent's argument is without merit as it is in contravention of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and this Court's order of appointment of referee. Accordingly, this Court should approve the Report of Referee and leave Respondent's suspension in force without amendment.

2

ARGUMENT

On April 22, 2004, this Court issued an order of appointment of referee in

this matter. The assigned Referee diligently followed said order to the letter of the

law. Said order gave the referee the following directive,

The referee shall hear, conduct, try, and determine the matters presented **within seven days from the date of assignment** and thereafter shall submit a report and recommendation to the Supreme Court of Florida **within seven days of the date of the hearing** as provided in rule 3-5.2(e)(2).

Specifically, Rule 3-5.2(e)(2) states,

The referee shall hear such motion within 7 days of assignment, or a shorter time if practicable, and submit a report and recommendation to the Supreme Court of Florida within 7 days of the date of the hearing, or a shorter time if practicable. *The referee shall recommend dissolution or amendment, whichever is appropriate, to the extent that bar counsel cannot demonstrate a likelihood of prevailing on the merits of any element of the underlying complaint.* (Emphasis Supplied).

When Rule 3-5.2 was adopted, this Court succinctly addressed the Bar's

burden in a motion for dissolution/amendment of an emergency suspension,

We also have specified that, *in the hearing on a motion to dissolve or modify an emergency order*, The Florida Bar will bear the burden of *demonstrating a likelihood of succeeding on the merits of the underlying complaint*. <u>The Florida Bar re</u> <u>Amendments to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 1-3.7;3-5.1(g);</u> <u>3-5.2;14-1.1 and Chapter 15</u>, 593 So.2d 1035, 1037 (Fla. 1991). (**Emphasis Supplied**).

In the instant case, the Referee specifically found that, "...for my limited

purpose under Rule 3-5.2(e)(2), I find that the Bar has presented a sufficient case

to prevail on the issue of misappropriation of funds on a trust account -- at least at this stage. So I'm not going to dissolve the complaint/petition..." (TR at 84-85). Furthermore, in the Report of Referee, the Referee noted that, "the Bar has demonstrated a likelihood of prevailing on the merits on each element of its Petition for Emergency Suspension" (ROR at 2), and he recommended that, "Respondent's Motion to Dissolve Emergency Suspension be denied and that Respondent's suspension remain in force without amendment." (ROR at 2).

Respondent states the Bar did not make a showing to the Referee that he caused great public harm. The Bar takes issue with that as it presented the testimony of the Branch Auditor who established that Respondent had been engaged in a "ponzi scheme" and that he misappropriated funds from numerous clients throughout 2003. Respondent used his trust account as if it was his personal bank account. Respondent had to borrow in excess of \$75,000 of family funds to cover shortages in his trust account. (TR at 30-51).

Furthermore, pursuant to rule 3-5.2(a), great public harm is what must be shown to this Court when filing a petition for emergency suspension. It is not the standard before the referee on a motion to dissolve/amend an emergency suspension pursuant to rule 3-5.2(e)(2).

As noted in Rule 3-5.2(a), this Court has the option as to whether or not to issue an emergency suspension. On April 8, 2004, this Court issued such a

4

suspension. Once this Court issues an emergency suspension and a respondent files a motion to dissolve/amend, the referee is called to look solely to Rule 3-5.2(e)(2).

Essentially, Respondent attempted to conduct the final hearing during his motion to dissolve his emergency suspension. Respondent sought to present evidence of his repayment of misappropriated funds. This was not the final hearing. At this stage, it was irrelevant why Respondent misappropriated the funds and whether he did or did not reimburse said funds.

In essence, Respondent is requesting that this Court legislate a new rule that favors his position. Respondent's position is illogical, as it would essentially amount to a final hearing being conducted on two (2) occasions.

A careful review of Rule 3-5.2, in its entirety, the transcript of the April 30, 2004 hearing on Respondent's Motion to Dissolve Emergency Suspension (included in Appendix to Respondent's Initial Brief), and the Report of Referee, in conjunction with Respondent's Initial Brief, leads to only one conclusion. Respondent is asking this Court to ignore its April 22, 2004 order of appointment of referee and to completely disregard the specific language of Rule 3-5.2.

5

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that the Report of Referee be approved and that the emergency suspension remain in force without amendment as recommended by the Referee in this cause.

> WILLIAM MULLIGAN Bar Counsel Florida Bar No. 0956880 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel Florida Bar No. 0253847 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 Tel: (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, Jr., Executive Director Florida Bar No. 0123390 The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 Tel: (850) 561-5600